FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 3/11/2019 2:04 PM NO: 96943-4

COA No. 35369-9-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Petitioner,

v.

DAVID EMERSON NICKELS, Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

PAMELA B. LOGINSKY WSBA No. 18096 Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 206 10th Ave. SE Olympia, WA 98501 (360) 753-2175

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
V. ARGUMENT		
	1.	Nickels' Motion to Disqualify the Grant County Prosecuting Attorney's Office Must Be Rejected Under the Current Rules of Professional Conduct
	2.	The Extraordinary Circumstance Exception to Office Wide Disqualification Must Consider Current Circumstances
VI.	CONCL	USION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

TABLE OF CASES

<i>CLEAN v. State</i> , 130 Wn.2d 782, 928 P.2d 1054 (1996)
Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 100 S. Ct. 1708, 64 L. Ed. 2d 333 (1980)
<i>Dewey v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co</i> , 536 A.2d 243, (N.J. Super.1988)
<i>Doyle v. Lee</i> , 166 Wn. App. 397, 272 P.3d 256 (2012)
<i>Eyman v. Ferguson</i> , No. 50819-2-II, Wn. App. 2d, P.3d (Wash. App. Jan. 23, 2019)
First Small Business Inv. Co. v. Intercapital Corporation of Oregon, 108 Wn.2d 324, 738 P.2d 263 (1987)
Hoquiam v. Public Employment RelationsCommission, 97 Wn.2d 481, 646 P.2d 129(1982)
<i>In re Grand Jury 91-1</i> , 790 F. Supp. 109 (E.D. Vir. 1992)
<i>Kramer v. Time Warner, Inc.</i> , 937 F.2d 767 (2d Cir. 1991)
<i>Lux v. Commonwealth</i> , 484 S.E.2d 145 (Va. App, 1997)16

Massachusetts School of Law v. American Bar Association, 872 F. Supp. 1346 (E. D. Pa. 1994)
Northbrook Digital LLC v. Vendio Servs., 625 F. Supp. 2d 728 (Minn. D. 2008)
People v. Perez, 201 P.3d 1220 (Colo. 2009) 12, 13
<i>Proctor v. Parada</i> , 700 P.2d 901, 902 (Ariz. App. 1985)
Santa Barbara Cty. Coal. Against Auto. Subsidies v. Santa Barbara Cty. Ass'n of Gov'ts, 167 Cal. App. 4th 1229, 84 Cal. Rptr. 3d 714 (2008)
Sherman v. State, 128 Wn.2d 164, 905 P.2d 355 (1995)1, 7, 14
<i>Siegel v. LePore</i> , 234 F.3d 1163 (11th Cir. 2000)
<i>State ex rel. Peters-Baker v. Round</i> , 561 S.W.3d 380 (Mo. 2018)
<i>State ex. rel. Horn</i> , 138 S.W.3d 729 (Mo. App. 2002)
State v. Camacho, 406 S.E.2d 868 (N.C. 1991)
State v. Cline, 405 A.2d 1192 (R.I. 1979)
State v. Dimaplas, 978 P.2d 891(Kan. 1999) 12
State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of the State,321 P.3d 882 (Nev. 2014)
<i>State v. Finch</i> , 137 Wn.2d 792, 975 P.2d 967 (1999)
State v. Hayes, 997 So.2d 446 (Fla. App. 2008)
State v. Kinkennon, 747 N.W.2d 437 (Neb. 2008) 12, 14

iv

State v. Latigue, 502 P.2d 1340 (Ariz. 1972)
<i>State v. Lemasters</i> , 456 S.W.3d 416 (Miss. 2015)
State v. Nickels, No. 35369-9-III (Feb. 7, 2019)1, 2, 7, 8, 11, 16, 18, 20
<i>State v. Pennington</i> , 851 P.2d 494 (N.M. App. 1993) 13, 14, 17
<i>State v. Royal</i> , 122 Wn.2d 413, 858 P.2d 259 (1993)
State v. Stenger, 111 Wn.2d 516, 760 P.2d 357 (1988)
<i>State v. Stenson</i> , 132 Wn.2d 668, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997)
United States v. Goot, 894 F.2d 231 (7th Cir. 1990)12, 13, 16

STATUTES

Chapter 36.26 RCW	
RCW 36.26.090	

v

COURT RULES

104 Wn.2d 1101-1139 (1985)
157 Wn.2d 1129–1342 (2006)
Amended Official Comment 9 to RPC 1.10, 171 Wn.2d 1107-09 (2011)11
Comment 2 to RPC 1.11
Comment 2 to RPC 1.11, 157 Wn.2d 1215 (2006)
Comment 2 to RPC 1.11, 157 Wn.2d 1215 (2006)
Comment 8 to RPC 1.0
Comment 9 to RPC 1.0
ER 201(f)
ER 201(a)
ER 201(b)
ER 201(d)
Evidence rule 201
RAP 13.4
RAP 13.4(b)(1)
RAP 13.4(b)(4)
RPC 1.0(k)
RPC 1.09, 104 Wn.2d 1113 (1985)10
RPC 1.09, 157 Wn.2d 1202-06 (2006) 10, 11

vi

RPC 1.10(d), 157 Wn.2d 1208 (2006) 10, 11
RPC 1.10(e), 157 Wn.2d 1208 (2006) 11
RPC 1.10(e), 157 Wn.2d 1208-09 (2006)11
RPC 1.11
RPC 1.11(d)
RPC 3.7(a)(3)

OTHER AUTHORITIES

ABA Comm. on Professional Ethics, Formal Op. 342, 62 A.B.A.J. 517 (1976)9
Garth L. Dano, Candidate Registration, C1 (filed May 30, 2014)
Grant County Auditor, November 23, 2009, General Election Results
Grant County Auditor, November 4, 2014, General Election Results.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State of Washington, by and through its attorney, Pamela B. Loginsky, Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney for Grant County,¹ asks this Court to accept review of that portion of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in section II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The State seeks review of the published Court of Appeals decision that disqualified the entire Grant County Prosecuting Attorney's Office despite the timely and effective screening of the personally disqualified newly elected prosecuting attorney. A copy of the Court of Appeals decision in *State v. Nickels*, No. 35369-9-III (Feb. 7, 2019), is in the appendix at pages B-1 through B-23. Division III's opinion was filed February 7, 2019.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

"This court has previously stated that where a disqualified attorney can be effectively screened and separated from participation, 'then the disqualification of the entire prosecuting attorney's office is neither necessary nor wise." *Sherman v. State*, 128 Wn.2d 164, 195, 905 P.2d 355 (1995) (quoting *State v. Stenger*, 111 Wn.2d 516, 523, 760 P.2d 357 (1988)

¹Ms. Loginsky was appointed as a special deputy prosecuting attorney pursuant to RCW 36.27.040. Neither Grant County Prosecuting Attorney Garth Dano nor any other member of the Grant County Prosecuting Attorney's Office participated in the decision to file a petition for review or in Ms. Loginsky's selection as a special deputy prosecuting attorney. *See* Appendix A (Declaration of Pamela B. Loginsky and Appointment of Special Deputy and Oath of Office).

(footnote omitted). This principle was codified when the Rules of Professional Responsibility were amended in 2006. *See* RPC 1.11(d); Comment 2 to RPC 1.11. Division III's opinion in *State v. Nickels*, nonetheless, adopted an "elected prosecuting attorney" exception which requires the recussal of the entire prosecutor's office absent extraordinary circumstances.

1. Does RPC 1.11(d) apply equally to elected prosecuting attorneys as it does to other government attorneys?

2. If arguendo, RPC 1.11(d) does not apply to a timely and effectively screened elected prosecuting attorney, must the office wide disqualification abatement test take into account the complexity of the case, proximity to trial, and availability of substitute counsel?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nickels was charged with first degree premeditated murder on June 16, 2010, when D. Angus Lee was the Grant County elected prosecuting attorney. *See* Grant County Auditor, November 23, 2009, General Election Results.² *Accord* CP 2. After numerous pretrial motions and hearings, jury

²The 2009 general election results are available at http://results.vote.wa.gov/results/20091103/Grant/ (last visited Mar. 10, 2019).

Evidence rule 201 authorizes a party to request a court to take judicial notice of adjudicative facts that are capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned. ER 201(a), (b) and (d). This rule applies at all stages of proceedings, including appeals. ER 201(f); *State v. Royal*, 122 Wn.2d 413, 417-18, 858 P.2d 259 (1993). "Facts which a court may judicially notice are those 'facts capable of immediate and accurate demonstration by resort to easily accessible sources of

selection began on July 9, 2012, and the jury reached a verdict on September 6, 2012. CP 2.

The State was represented throughout the pretrial and trial proceedings by a number of attorneys including Edward Owens, Tyson Hill, Albert Lee, and Douglas Mitchell. CP 24, 116, 143. Nickels was primarily represented by Jacqueline Walsh and Mark Larranaga, with Garth Dano making a limited appearance to receive the verdict while Ms. Walsh and Mr. Larranaga were out of state. *See* CP 178 \P 1, 131 \P 1.³

Nickels filed a timely appeal. Prosecutor Lee made arrangements in July of 2013 for a Kitsap County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney (DPA) to represent the State on appeal after the lead trial attorney was appointed to the bench. CP 188-190. Prosecutor Lee was no longer in office when Nickels conviction was reversed in an unpublished opinion for structural error arising

<sup>indisputable accuracy and verifiable certainty." CLEAN v. State, 130 Wn.2d 782,809,928
P.2d 1054 (1996) (quoting State ex rel. Humiston v. Meyers, 61 Wn.2d 772,779,380 P.2d
735 (1963)). Courts routinely take judicial notice of election results and of public disclosure documents that candidates are required by law to file. See, e.g., Siegel v. LePore, 234 F.3d
1163, 1196 n.5 (11th Cir. 2000) (judicial notice taken of election reports that counties are required to file with the secretary of state); Kramer v. Time Warner, Inc., 937 F.2d 767, 774 (2d Cir. 1991) (judicial notice of public disclosure documents required by law to be filed); Proctor v. Parada, 700 P.2d 901, 902 (Ariz. App. 1985) ("We take judicial notice of election results filed with the secretary of state of the State of Arizona."); Santa Barbara Cty. Coal. Against Auto. Subsidies v. Santa Barbara Cty. Ass'n of Gov'ts, 167 Cal. App. 4th 1229, 1234 n.3, 84 Cal. Rptr. 3d 714, 718 (2008) (judicial notice of appellant's campaign disclosure forms); Eyman v. Ferguson, No. 50819-2-II, slip op. at 4, _____Wn. App. 2d _____, ___ P.3d __(Wash. App. Jan. 23, 2019) (judicial notice taken of election results).</sup>

³In his December 19, 2012, post-verdict declaration Mr. Dano states in relevant part that: "I do not represent Mr. David Nickels. The attorneys for Mr. Nickels were out of state on another matter and contacted me to stand in as counsel for Mr. Nickels when his jury verdict was announced."

from an erroneous court crafted "to convict" instruction. *See State v. Nickels*, 197 Wn. App. 1085 (2017). Prosecutor Lee's successor in office was Garth Dano. Grant County Auditor, November 4, 2014, General Election Results.⁴ Prosecutor Dana first registered as a candidate for the office of Grant County Prosecuting Attorney on May 30, 2014, nearly 10 months after Prosecutor Lee transferred the Nickels case to the Kitsap County Prosecuting Attorney's Office. *See* Garth L. Dano, Candidate Registration, C1 (filed May 30, 2014).⁵

Following remand, Grant County DPA Kevin McCrae immediately screened Prosecutor Dano from the matter. 2RP 24. The screen was erected before Prosecutor Dano discussed the case with any members of the Grant County Prosecuting Attorney's Office. CP 93. Prosecutor Dano's computer access to the Grant County Prosecuting Attorney's Office's files in Nickels' case was disabled. A cover sheet advising of Prosecutor Dano's disqualification was inserted into the hard files. All officer personnel were instructed that the case was not to be discussed in Prosecutor Dano's presence and that Prosecutor Dano was to take no part in the litigation. CP 93.

DPA McCrae attempted to locate a government attorney from outside the Grant County Prosecuting Attorney's Office to represent the State at the new trial. 2RP 18-19. When those efforts failed, DPA McCrae and DPA Ed

⁴The 2014 general election results may be found here http://results.vote.wa.gov/results/20141104/grant/

⁵This document is available on the Public Disclosure Commission's website at https://web.pdc.wa.gov/rptimg/default.aspx?docid=3841925 (last visited Mar. 10, 2019).

Owens appeared for the State upon remand. See 1RP 29; 2RP 1.⁶ DPA Owens had represented the State in the original trial. See, e.g., CP 24, 116.

Post-remand Nickels requested that Mr. Larranaga and Ms. Walsh be reappointed to represent him despite Grant County's Chapter 36.26 RCW Public Defender's Office having no conflict that would preclude its representation to Nickels. *See* 2RP 41-46. Nickels contended that the requisite "good cause" required by RCW 36.26.090 for appointing someone other than the Public Defender's Office was established by the complexity of the case which would require new lawyers to take "months, if not years" to master. 2RP 40. Nickels' briefly described the factors that render his murder case unusually complext as follows:

The initial investigation was substantial, spanning several different states, including Montana, Washington, Idaho, Arizona, Utah, Wyoming, Oregon and Louisiana. In addition to investigating the state's allegation, the defense conducted extensive and credible investigation to support Ian Libby and Julian Latimer as the real killers. The forensic evidence was also plentiful including: DNA, cell phone evidence, ballistic, shoe impression, destruction of evidence, fingerprint and blood spatter. At trial, the state noted approximately 61 witnesses and the defense gave notice of 71 witnesses. The length and depth of the case is demonstrated by the appellate record, which consisted of 7,000 pages of transcripts and thousands of clerk's papers.

⁶There are two volumes of verbatim report of proceedings. The page numbering for each volume begins with the number one. To avoid confusion, the State will cite to the volumes as follows:

¹RP- May 9, 2017, and June 12, 2017 verbatim report of proceedings 2RP - May 31, 2017, verbatim report of proceedings

CP 17. The trial court ultimately found good cause for reappointing Mr. Larranaga and Ms. Waslh. 2RP 54, 57-58; CP 160-61.

After reappointing Nickels' prior counsel, the court heard Nickels' motion to disqualify the entire Grant County Prosecuting Attorney's Office. Nickels took the position that recusal of the entire office was required by *Stenger*, and that the "rule" from *Stenger* would require recusal even if Prosecutor Dano had assumed office just one week prior to the scheduled trial. 2RP 17.

The trial court rejected Nickels motion to disqualify the Grant County Prosecuting Attorney's Office. The court found that Nickels case was distinguishable from *Stenger* and the cases cited in *Stenger* as the charges were pending when Prosecutor Dano took office. 2RP 27. *See also* CP 158-160. The court determined that the State's screen had not been breached, CP 159-160, and that the State could maintain its screen, providing the court with a monthly statement that the screen has not been breached. 2RP 29.⁷ The court reviewed the screen that was currently in place and provided Nickels with an opportunity to request additional measures. 2RP 30-32. Nickels did not request any additional measures when asked or at any subsequent point in time. 2RP 32.

⁷The State has complied with this requirement to throughout the appellate period. *See, e.g.,* CP 194-197.

Nickels obtained discretionary review of the order denying his motion to disqualify the entire Grant County Prosecuting Attorney's Office from participating in his case. In a 2-1 decision, with Judge Korsmo dissenting, Division III reversed the trial court's ruling and remanded the case. *Nickels*, slip op. at 14. The State files this timely petition for review.

V. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4 discusses the considerations governing this Court's acceptance of review. Here, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' decision de facto office-wide disqualification rule unnecessarily restricts the electorate's choice of candidates for the elected office of prosecuting attorney and can jeopardize public safety by forcing the State to proceed to trial with poorly prepared counsel. Review is also appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the majority's opinion conflicts with prior opinions of this Court, including but not limited to, *Sherman v. State*, 128 Wn.2d 164, 187, 905 P.2d 355 (1995), and *First Small Business Inv. Co. v. Intercapital Corporation of Oregon*, 108 Wn.2d 324, 322-32, 738 P.2d 263 (1987).

1. Nickels' Motion to Disqualify the Grant County Prosecuting Attorney's Office Must Be Rejected Under the Current Rules of Professional Conduct.

Division III ordered the disqualification of the entire Grant County Prosecuting Attorney's Office based upon dicta⁸ contained in a factually distinguishable case. In *Stenger*, this Court disqualified the Clark County Prosecuting Attorney's Office from a murder case where a notice of special sentencing proceeding had been filed prior to the effective screening of the elected prosecuting attorney who had previously represented the defendant. *See Stenger*, 111 Wn.2d at 522-23. This Court, however, indicated that when an effective screen is erected the disqualification of an entire office is "neither necessary or wise." *Id.* at 523.

The Court's adoption of a screening exception to disqualification was progressive as the concept did not appear in the Rules of Professional Conduct ("RPC") that had been adopted in 1985, just three years before *Stenson* was issued. *See* 104 Wn.2d 1101-1139 (1985). In fact until the American Bar Association Committee on Professional Ethics issued Formal Opinion 342 on November 24, 2975, a per se rule of office wide disqualification was applied whenever a government lawyer who came from private practice had a conflict. The committee relied on two reasons in ruling that lawyers in a government office are not necessarily disqualified from

⁸See Nickels, dissent slip op. 1 n. 2 (Korsmo, J., dissenting).

handling matters in which another lawyer in the office had participated while in private practice: (1) a contrary rule would unreasonably impair the government's ability to practice, and (2) salaried government employees do not have the financial interest in the success of departmental representation that is inherent in private practice. ABA Comm. on Professional Ethics, Formal Op. 342, 62 A.B.A.J. 517, 521 (1976).

Nearly twenty years after *Stenger* was issued this Court significantly amended the RPC. *See* 157 Wn.2d 1129–1342 (2006) (new RPC adopted effective Sep. 1, 2006). The new RPC, wholeheartedly embraced screening as a means of avoiding disqualification of a conflicted attorney's entire firm or office. A definition of "screened," RPC 1.0(k), was added to apply "to situations where screening of a personally disqualified lawyer is permitted to remove imputation of a conflict of interest under Rules 1.10, 1.11, 1.12, 1.18, or 6.5." Comment 8 to RPC 1.0.

"The purpose of screening is to assure the affected parties that confidential information known by the personally disqualified lawyer remains protected." Comment 9 to RPC 1.0. Screening requires the personally disqualified lawyer to acknowledge a responsibility to not communicate with any of the other lawyers in the firm with respect to the matter. Other lawyers in the firm must be advised that they may not communicate with the personally disqualified lawyer in the firm about the matter. Non-lawyer

employees must also be instructed to not communicate with the personally disqualified lawyer or to restrict the personally disqualified lawyer's access to the files. *Id.*

While current RPC 1.9⁹ and former RPC 1.9¹⁰ both prohibit a lawyer who formerly represented a client in a matter to represent another party in the matter whose interests are materially adverse to the interests of the former client, the rules differ dramatically with respect to the impact of the attorney's personal disqualification upon other lawyers in the firm. Former RPC 1.10, 104 Wn.2d 113-14 (1985), prohibited a firm that a former client's lawyer becomes associated with from representing interests that are materially adverse to the former client absent a waiver from the former client. Former RPC 1.10(a) and (d) (1985). While former RPC 1.11, 104 Wn.2d 1114-15 (1985), contained special rules applicable to successive government and private employment, neither former RPC 1.10 nor former RPC 1.11 explicitly excused government offices from RPC 1.10's imputed disqualification provisions.

The 2016 RPCs still impute a lawyer's personal conflict to the entire firm. See RPC 1.10(a), 157 Wn.2d 1206(2006). This imputation rule, however, does not apply to government attorneys. See RPC 1.10(d), 157

⁹157 Wn.2d 1202-06 (2006).

¹⁰104 Wn.2d 1113 (1985).

Wn.2d 1208 (2006); Comment 2 to RPC 1.11, 157 Wn.2d 1215 (2006). Private firms may avoid disqualification through the erection of a nonconsensual screen when a former client's attorney joins the firm. RPC 1.10(e), 157 Wn.2d 1208 (2006). *See also* Amended Official Comment 9 to RPC 1.10, 171 Wn.2d 1107-09 (2011). While the former client cannot insist upon disqualification if a screen has been erected, the former client may challenge the screening mechanism and may request court supervision to ensure that effective and actual compliance has been achieved. RPC 1.10(e), 157 Wn.2d 1208-09 (2006).

The impact of a former or current government attorney's personal conflict upon his or her office or agency is governed by RPC 1.11. RPC 1.10(d). Subsection (d)(1) and (2)(I) apply when a lawyer who is currently serving as a public officer is disqualified due to RPC 1.9. Comment 2 to RPC 1.11 explains that

Because of the special problems raised by imputation within a government agency, paragraph (d) does not impute the conflicts of a lawyer currently serving as an officer or employee of the government to other associated government officers or employees, although ordinarily it will be prudent to screen such lawyers.

157 Wn.2d 1215 (2006).

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