FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/8/2019 8:56 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT No. 96943-4 COURT OF APPEALS No. 35369-6-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Petitioner,

v.

DAVID EMERSON NICKELS, Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

JACQUELINE K. WALSH WSBA No. 21651

MARK A. LARRAÑAGA WSBA No. 22715 Attorneys for Mr. Nickels

WALSH & LARRAÑAGA 705 SECOND AVE., SUITE 501 SEATTLE, WA 98104 (206) 325-7900

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. There Are No Prior Opinions From this Court that Conflict with Division III's Reliance on the Standard Set Out in Stenger.

Division III properly relied on this Court's long-standing

standard in *Stenger* to reach its conclusion:

The lead authority governing our analysis is *State v. Stenger*. *Stenger* addressed the issue of when, under the Rules of Professional Conduct (RPC), an elected prosecutor's conflict of interest must be imputed to the balance of the prosecutor's office. The *Stenger* court articulated the following standard:

Where the prosecuting attorney (as distinguished from a deputy prosecuting attorney) has previously personally represented the accused in the same case or in a matter so closely interwoven therewith as to be in effect a part thereof, the entire office which the prosecuting attorney is administrative head should ordinarily also be disqualified from prosecuting the case and a special deputy prosecuting attorney appointed. This is not to say, however, that anytime a prosecuting attorney is disqualified in a case for any reason that the entire prosecuting attorney's office is also disqualified. Where the previous case is not the same case (or one closely interwoven therewith) that is being prosecuted, and where, for some other ethical reason the prosecuting attorney may be totally disqualified from the case, if that prosecuting attorney separates himself of herself from all

Office is unable to find a conflict-free agency to handle the matter. *See* Appendix 022.

connection with the case and delegates full authority and control over the case to a deputy prosecuting attorney, we perceive no persuasive reason why such a complete delegation of authority and control and screening should not be honored if scrupulously maintained.

App. at 005-006 (citations omitted) *citing Stenger*, 111 Wn.2d 522 (footnotes omitted).

The petitioner nonetheless seeks discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) under the theory that Division III's reliance on *Stenger* conflicts with prior opinions of this Court. Pet. at 7. The petitioner relies on only two cases to support its suggested conflict. *Id.*, citing *First Small Business Inv. Co. v. Intercapital Corporation of Oregon*, 108 Wn.2d 324, 322-32, 738 P.2d 263 (1987) and *Sherman v. State*, 128 Wn.2d 164, 187, 905 P.2d 355 (1995).

However, these cases neither conflict with *Stenger* nor are they factually applicable.⁴ In *Stenger*, this Court addressed the disqualification of an elected prosecutor who previously represented a defendant on the same criminal case that his or her office is currently prosecuting to conclude the entire office should ordinarily

mark@jamlegal.com

⁴ *First Small Business* was decided one year before *Stenger* and this Court did not cite, rely or consider it applicable. It is difficult to conclude it demonstrates a "conflict" with *Stenger*.

also be disqualified. *Stenger*, 111 Wn.2d 522. *First Small Business Inv. Co.* involved the disqualification of a member of a private law firm in a civil case. *First Small Business Inv. Co.*, 108 Wn.2d at 330-31. In deciding the issue, this Court looked at the type of relationship between the disqualified attorney and concluded disqualification was unnecessary since the disqualified attorney was not a member of the same firm but merely associated as co-counsel for a short period of time with minimal involvement. *Id*.

The petitioner's reliance on *Sherman* is similarly misplaced. *Sherman* pertained to the disqualification of the Office of the Attorney General from representing the University of Washington in a civil wrongful termination claim. *Sherman*, 128 Wn.2d at 169. This Court concluded that disqualification was unnecessary because the record did not establish any attorney-client relationship existed between the attorney and the physician. *Id.*, at 188-190.⁵

Notwithstanding the significant factual distinction, Division

⁵ For example, the only contact was a brief memorandum that demonstrated the lack of an attorney-client relationship since it clearly indicated counsel represented the University and not the physician, and was simply requesting information from the physician. *Sherman*, 128 Wn.2d at 188-190.

III's opinion is not in conflict with these cases. Division III also

looked at the type of relationship between the disqualified attorney

(Mr. Dano) and his client (Mr. Nickels) to reach its conclusion:

Having discerned two factors relevant to our analysis, we find no extraordinary circumstances that would excuse the Grant County Prosecuting Attorney's Office from being conflicted out of Mr. Nickels's case. It is uncontested, based on Ms. Walsh's affidavit, that Mr. Dano was privy to privileged work product information during his association with Mr. Nickels's defense team. In addition, because Mr. Dano met with Mr. Nickels individually after entry of the jury verdict, he presumably engaged in confidential attorney-client communications. . . No amount of screening can be sufficient to fully wall off Mr. Dano from the case or prevent him from being cognizant of the resources being committed to Mr. Nickels's case, and thus not devoted to other office priorities. Given the foregoing circumstances, Mr. Dano's conflict of interest and need for recusal must extend to the entire Grant County Prosecuting Attorney's Office.

Appendix 013-014.

Simply put, Division III's proper reliance on this Court's *Stenger* standard does not conflict with any opinion of this Court that would warrant discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).⁶

⁶ The few other Washington cases the petitioner cites also fail to establish any suggested conflict since they are either not opinions from this Court or do not relate to the *Stenger* standard at all. Pet. at 2, 3, 16, 19.

On the other hand, there is ample support that the Division III's reliance on this Court's *Stenger* standard is long-standing, consistent and controlling.

Thirty years ago, this Court was asked whether an elected prosecutor who previously represented a defendant requires disqualification of the entire prosecutor's office. *Stenger*, 111 Wn.2d at 518. The Court's answer first turned on whether the prosecutor was the elected prosecutor or a deputy prosecutor. If it involved the latter, then appropriate screening may be sufficient. *Id*.

If, however, the disqualification involved the elected prosecutor, like here, then the inquiry turned on whether the previous representation of the accused was on the same or a closely related case as the one being prosecuted. If the case was *not the same or closely related*, then disqualification of the entire prosecutor's office might not be required. *Id.*, at 522-23.

But if, like here, the elected prosecutor's previous representation involved the *same case* as the one being prosecuted, then this Court's general rule established that the entire prosecutor's

office should ordinarily be disqualified. Id.

Additionally, Division III noted that this Court's *Stenger* standard was subsequently echoed by the Washington State Bar Association (WSBA). Appendix 011-012, WSBA Advisory Opinion 1773 (1997).⁷

Although not relied upon by Division III, this Court's *Stenger* standard was recently applied in *State v. Fox*, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 839 (April 4, 2017)(unpublished).⁸ In *Fox*, the elected

⁷ "A lawyer is prohibited from prosecuting a former client if the two matters are substantially related or if confidences were revealed during the prior representation. If a lawyer is disqualified due to a conflict, then another lawyer in the office may be reassigned so long as the disqualified lawyer is totally separated from all aspects of the case and relinquishes all control, involvement and authority over the case. *The entire prosecuting attorney's office is disqualified when the death penalty is being sought, when the prosecuting attorney personally represented the defendant in the same or a substantially related proceeding <u>or</u> when other facts <i>require disqualification under the RPCs.* A conflict of interest might be waived under RPC 1.9(a) and 1.8(b) if the accused gives written consent following full disclosure and RPC 1.6 is complied with." WSBA Advisory Opinion 1773 (emphasis added).

⁸ General Rule (GR) 14.1(a) permits citation to an unpublished opinion as nonbinding authority and of no precedential value. Unpublished opinions may be accorded such persuasive value as the court deems appropriate. GR 14.1. Respondent submits that this unpublished case is appropriate to show the consistent reliance on this Court's *Stenger* standard.

prosecutor, who previously represented the defendant on the same case being prosecuted, became the county's elected prosecutor. Like Division III, Division II properly relied on the *Stenger* standard to conclude the disqualification of the entire office was appropriate. *Id.* at 7.

The petitioner's request for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) should be denied since there is no support that Division III's reliance on *Stenger* conflicts with any prior opinion of this Court.

2. Petitioner's Overly Expansive Interpretation of Division III's Decision is Misplaced.

Division III characterized the issue presented - whether the entire prosecuting attorney's office must be disqualified when the elected prosecutor is disqualified because he or she previously represented a defendant in the same or similar case as the one currently pending prosecution – as being narrow. Appendix 005-006.

The petitioner, in an attempt to seek review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), seeks to expand Division III's narrow ruling to claim it unnecessarily restricts the electorate's choice of candidates and can jeopardize public safety. Pet. at 7. It argues, for instance, that

Division III created a *per se* disqualification of the entire prosecuting attorney's office *whenever* the elected prosecutor is disqualified:

Vicarious disqualification significantly impacts the efficiency of the administration of the criminal justice system. *If vicarious disqualification of prosecuting attorney's offices were required each time the elected prosecuting attorney previously served as a criminal defense attorney*, the electorate's choice of future prosecutors will be constrained due to the cost of procuring outside counsel.

Pet. at 15. (emphasis added).

Division III's ruling is not as all-encompassing as petitioner claims. Division III did not find a prosecuting attorney's office is automatically disqualified whenever the elected prosecuting attorney previously served as a criminal defense attorney. In fact, Division III rejected the much narrower bright line rule advanced by Mr. Nickels: that office-wide recusal is required whenever the elected prosecutor has a conflict because his or her prior representation of a client in the *same case or similar case as the one currently pending prosecution*. Instead, Division III acknowledged *Stenger* took a more limited approach:

Stenger's imputed recusal standard comes close to creating a bright-line rule, but it ultimately falls short. For one thing, *Stenger*'s analysis is couched in qualified language. In announcing the

standard for recusal of a prosecutor's office, *Stenger* used the auxiliary verb "should;" not "shall" or "must." In so doing, the decision indicated that recusal of an entire office is not always required, even when the elected prosecutor himself or herself must be recused based on prior representation in the same case.

In addition to Stenger's qualified language, the decision did not purport to change the written RPCs, which specifically exclude government agencies from bright-line rules of imputed conflicts.

But, because no per se recusal rule exists for public service attorneys, there is the possibility of an exception, based on the individual circumstances of the elected prosecutor.

Appendix 006-008 (citations omitted).

Contrary to petitioner's suggestion, Division III did not create an expansive *per se* rule that requires disqualification of an entire prosecuting attorney's office *whenever* the elected prosecutor served as a criminal defense attorney. Rather, Division III concluded *Stenger* did not create a bright-line rule but no extraordinary circumstances existed under these facts that would excuse the Grant County Prosecuting Attorney's Office from being conflicted out of Mr. Nickels's case. Appendix-013.

Petitioner's claim that discretionary review is warranted under RAP 13.5(b)(4) because Division III's opinion creates a *per* *se* disqualification that would unnecessarily restrict the electorate's choice of candidates and can jeopardize public safety is without support and should be denied.

3. Petitioner's Claim that Screening Mechanisms Require Review of Division III's Decision Fails.

Petitioner finally argues at great length that review of Division III's decision is warranted because adequate screening was employed. Pet. at 15 - 19. However, the adequacy of any alleged screening was not before the trial court⁹ or Division III.¹⁰ Instead, Division III concluded effective screening was an ordinary

⁹ The petitioner's suggestion that the trial court reviewed the adequacy of screening mechanism or that the defense acquiesced by not asking for additional measures (Pet. at 6) is not accurate. The trial court merely commented on the prosecutor's claim of "walling off." CP 159. Furthermore, defense counsel's refusal to provide "additional measures" cannot be deemed a concession of the appropriateness of any suggested screening mechanism, but rather consistent with its argument that under the facts of this case, the entire prosecuting attorney's office must be recused and any screening was inappropriate. Moreover, there is no trial court finding that screening mechanisms were adequate or sufficient.

¹⁰ The Commissioner of Division III ruled that any claimed screening procedures were irrelevant and were stricken from the appellate record. *See* Commissioner's Ruling, 5/12/2018 ("This Court agrees that subsequent declarations [regarding alleged screening] are irrelevant. . . and the entirety of that supplemental designation is stricken from the record before this Court in the discretionary review."). Likewise, the petitioner's gratuitous reference to such declarations (Pet. at 6, n.7) is equally irrelevant.

requirement applicable to all types of conflicts and not an extraordinary circumstance under this Court's *Stenger* standard. Appendix 009.

Applying this Court's *Stenger* standard, Division III properly concluded that screening may be appropriate where the disqualification is of a deputy prosecutor or the elected prosecutor when his/her involvement in the previous case *is not the same or closely similar* to one being prosecuted.

Whether an elected prosecutor has participated in an ongoing case against a prior client goes to the issue of screening. Effective screening is not an extraordinary circumstance. It is an ordinary requirement, applicable to all types of conflicts regardless of the identity of conflict holder. [Stenger] at 522-23 (Screening, as opposed to office-wide recusal, is required when a prosecuting attorney is conflicted for reasons other than prior representation in the same case.); Washington State Bar Association (WSBA) Advisory Opinion 1773 (1997) (Screening is required when a conflict is held by a deputy prosecuting attorney.).

Appendix 009 (emphasis added).

Applying the *Stenger* standard to the facts of this case, Division III properly reasoned it appropriate to consider (1) whether the elected prosecutor's prior work involved acquisition of privileged work product and/or confidential attorney-client information, and (2) the nature of the case giving rise to the elected

prosecutor's conflict of interest to conclude *Stenger*'s general rule applies and the entire prosecutor's office must be recused along with Mr. Dano. *See* Appendix 002, 009, 014.

D. CONCLUSION

Division III's well-reasoned conclusion is the result of properly applying the consensus controlling legal authority of this Court's *Stenger* standard to the facts of this case. It is not, as petitioner claims, a decision that conflicts with prior opinions of this Court or creates a broad per se rule that would jeopardize public safety. As such, petitioner's petition for discretionary rule under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or 13.4.(b)(4) should be denied.